FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/26/2023 11:02 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101537-2

Court of Appeals No. 55288-4-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

M.N. and G.T., individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

A.B. and W.N., individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs Below,

v.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent.

CORRECTED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Cari Campen Laufenberg, WSBA #34354

Benjamin Gould, WSBA #44093

Chris Ryder, WSBA # 58732

KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.

1201 Third Ave., Ste. 3200 Seattle, WA 98101-3052

Telephone: (206) 623-1900

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

Defendant MultiCare Health Systems operates the Good Samaritan Hospital in Puyallup. In 2018, an outbreak of Hepatitis C was traced back to the hospital's emergency department. After an investigation, public health officials determined that a nurse named Cora Weberg had spread the disease by diverting injectable drugs for her personal use.

Public health officials also determined that Hepatitis posed a risk to all patients who had received injectable narcotics in the emergency department while Weberg was on duty, whether or not Weberg herself had treated them. At the officials' direction, the Defendant sent a letter to all of these patients. The letter told them of the outbreak and advised them that testing was the "only way to be certain [they] were not infected." CP 466–67, 469–70.

The Plaintiffs are patients who received the letter and got their blood tested. They represent a certified class of patients who, like them, received the notification letter but were not directly treated by Weberg. Luckily, no one in this class has thus far tested positive for Hepatitis linked to Weberg.

The class asserts claims for medical negligence under RCW 7.70.030(1) and for common-law corporate negligence. It seeks damages for anxiety, fear, and, for those whose blood was tested, the physical invasion of testing.

The Defendant moved for summary judgment, asserting that its negligence was not the legal cause of the class's injuries.

The trial court granted the motion and the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published decision.

This Court should grant review for three reasons.

- 1. The Court of Appeals majority concluded that even though most class members had received invasive blood tests—tests that it conceded were physical injury—none of them could show legal causation of their emotional distress. This ruling conflicts with over a century of this Court's case law, which holds that emotional distress accompanying physical injury is recoverable as a matter of course.
 - **2.** To conclude that legal causation was lacking, the Court

of Appeals also relied on a policy against awarding damages solely for "emotional distress without a corresponding physical harm or objective manifestation." *M.N. v. MultiCare Health Sys., Inc.*, — Wn. App. 2d —, 519 P.3d 932, 2022 WL 16757054 (2022), Slip Op. ("Op.") at 937. This reasoning ignores the many class members who underwent blood tests. More fundamentally, however, it conflicts with *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 26 P.3d 257 (2001), which allows plaintiffs to recover emotional-distress damages under chapter 7.70 RCW *without* showing physical harm or an objective manifestation.

3. The Court of Appeals held that a policy encouraging healthcare facilities to provide "full transparent disclosure and notification" outweighed the need to hold the Defendant liable for its negligence. Op. at 937. As explained in detail below, this holding does not make sense even on its own terms, and it creates bad policy on an important public-health issue.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are M.N. and G.T., appellants below and class

representatives for the General Treatment Class certified by the Pierce County Superior Court.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of *M.N. v. MultiCare Health Sys.*, *Inc.*, — a decision of Division Two of the Court of Appeals initially filed on August 23, 2022, and ordered published on November 8, 2022. A copy of the order publishing the decision and the decision itself is attached as an Appendix to this Petition.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. For a medical negligence claim under RCW 7.70.030, may plaintiffs seeking emotional distress damages establish legal causation by showing that they underwent blood tests as a result of the negligence?
- 2. For a medical negligence claim under RCW 7.70.030, may plaintiffs seeking emotional distress damages establish legal causation without proof of physical injury or objective symptoms?
- 3. Here, a healthcare provider negligently created a risk of infectious disease and told the at-risk patients that blood testing was the only way to be sure they were not infected. May the provider be held liable for emotional distress and the physical invasion of testing whether or not patients ultimately test positive?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nurse Cora Weberg diverts intravenous drugs while working in Defendant's emergency department, a Hepatitis C outbreak occurs, and public health officials determine that Weberg is the likely source.

For about nine months spanning 2017 and 2018, Nurse Cora Weberg worked as a registered nurse in the emergency department at MultiCare Good Samaritan Hospital ("Good Samaritan"), which the Defendant owns and operates. Clerk's Papers (CP) 140. Weberg diverted injectable narcotics from the Hospital for personal use, thereby spreading Hepatitis C to patients. CP 84:9–85:22, 114, 140.

While all agree that Weberg's drug diversion caused the Hepatitis C outbreak, the exact mechanism of disease transmission remains unknown. That is because Weberg denied needle sharing with patients—i.e., she denied injecting herself with a needle before using the same needle to inject a patient. CP 115. For that reason and others, it remains an open question even now exactly which and how many patients were exposed to Hepatitis C. *See* CP 576–77, 603–04.

However the outbreak occurred, it came to the attention of public health officials in early 2018, when the Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department learned of two Good Samaritan patients who had tested positive for Hepatitis C. CP 88. While each patient had received a Hepatitis C diagnosis, neither had any risk factors associated with contracting the disease. *Id.* Both patients, however, had received injectable narcotics from Weberg during separate visits to Good Samaritan's emergency department. *Id.*

Ultimately, the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) determined that at least twelve patients who visited the Good Samaritan emergency department had contracted genetically linked Hepatitis C. CP 88–90. The CDC's and local health department's investigation revealed that the patients with genetically linked Hepatitis C had all received injectable narcotics from Weberg. *Id.* Weberg's drug diversion, the public health agencies concluded, was the probable cause of the Hepatitis outbreak. CP 89–90. Defendant investigated and

corroborated that conclusion, acknowledging in a press release that the outbreak occurred because of Weberg's drug diversion. CP 147–48, 365:4–367:12.

II. The Defendant notifies nearly 2,800 of its patients that they are at risk of contracting Hepatitis C and need to be tested.

In response to the outbreak, the CDC and local health department determined that due to a risk of infection, certain patients needed to receive testing for Hepatitis C. *See* CP 287 at 25:11–28:18. At the health agencies' direction, CP 289–90 at 36:13–37:1, Defendant mailed a form letter to 2,798 patients who had received certain injectable drugs while Nurse Weberg was on duty in Defendant's emergency department.

The letter said that the Defendant was sending the letter to:

- "share some very concerning information";
- "sincerely apologize for the anxiety that this situation may cause";
- inform patients that the "only way to be certain [they] were not infected is to have [their] blood

tested"; and

• let them know that "[i]t is possible [they] may need to be re-tested again in six months."

CP 466–67, 469–70.

As the health officials had directed, CP 287 at 25:11–28:18, 289–90 at 36:13–37:1, the Defendant sent the notification letter to all affected patients regardless of whether they were directly treated by Weberg. *See* CP 466–67 (letter to patient A.B., who was directly treated by Weberg); CP 469–70 (letter to patient M.N., who was not). Nor did the letter draw any distinction between patients whom Weberg did and did not treat herself. CP 88–89, 466–67, 469–70.

At the same time as the Defendant was sending letters to about 2,800 patients, it told the rest of its patient community that it was not at risk. Patients who did "not receive notification letters," the Defendant said in a press release, were "**not at risk**." CP 147–48 (bold in original).

Most of the patients who received the letter underwent

blood testing for Hepatitis C. By November 1, 2018, 1,863 of the 2,762 patients who received the letter had been tested, including 175 of the 208 patients Weberg treated. CP 89.

Among these patients were Plaintiff A.B., whom Weberg treated directly, and Plaintiffs M.N. and G.T., whom she did not. All three patients were admitted to the Good Samaritan emergency department and had received injections for narcotics. *See* CP 68–73. All three later received identical notification letters from the Defendant and underwent blood testing for Hepatitis. *Id*.

III. The superior court certifies two classes of patients.

In 2018, M.N. filed suit in Pierce County Superior Court against the Defendant on behalf of herself and similarly situated persons. CP 1–3. A.B. and G.T. later joined as plaintiffs. CP 31–36.

Plaintiffs bring claims for medical negligence under RCW 7.70.030(1) and for corporate negligence. They allege that the Defendant breached its duty to exercise the degree of care

expected of a reasonably prudent hospital, its duty to safeguard its patients' well-being, and its duty to train and supervise its employees to ensure that they provide competent and safe care. Plaintiffs seek damages for the emotional disruption to their lives, the physical invasion and pain of the blood draws for testing, and the months of anxiety and fear suffered by every class member. CP 33–36.

Plaintiffs moved for class certification of their claims. CP 50–67. The trial court granted class certification of two classes. CP 316–28. The first class, called the "Weberg Treatment Class," consists of everyone who received treatment directly from Weberg and subsequently received notification letters from Defendant. CP 326. A.B. represents this class. CP 320. The second class, called the "General Treatment Class," consists of everyone who was treated at the Good Samaritan emergency department when Weberg was on duty, but did not receive treatment directly from Weberg. CP 326. M.N. and G.T. represent this class. CP 320. Because this appeal concerns only

the General Treatment Class, this Petition will simply refer to it as the "class" from here on.

IV. The trial court grants summary judgment against the class.

Defendant moved for summary judgment on the class's claims, arguing that its breach was not the legal cause of the class's injuries. CP 329–49. The summary judgment motion put only legal causation at issue; it did not contest that Plaintiffs could prove the other elements of their claims.

Plaintiffs opposed summary judgment and provided documentary evidence and uncontroverted declarations addressing duty, breach, and proximate cause. CP 418–47, 574–78, 599–605, 617–22. Plaintiffs' experts testified that Defendant failed to hire Weberg with reasonable care, to properly supervise her, and/or to implement anti-diversion policies and procedures. CP 575–77. They also testified that patients who were present in the emergency department when Weberg was working and received narcotics injections were at risk of contracting Hepatitis C. CP 575–77, 603–05, 621–22. Among Plaintiffs' documentary

evidence was an email from the Pharmacy Operations Manager showing the Defendant knew it had substandard narcotic diversion detection and prevention programs. CP 732.

The trial court granted the motion for summary judgment, dismissing the class's claims. CP 739–40. In the trial court's view, the Defendant's negligence was not the legal cause of the class's injuries because Plaintiffs failed to show an actual risk of infection and the class's injuries were not reasonably foreseeable as a matter of law. CP 727.

V. The Court of Appeals affirms.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that Defendant's negligence was not the legal cause of the General Treatment Class's injuries. The court cited two main reasons for reaching this conclusion. First, although the court acknowledged that most class members had received blood tests, the court stated that Washington disfavored liability solely for "emotional distress without a corresponding physical harm or objective manifestation." Op. at 937. Second, it asserted that the general

policy of holding negligent parties responsible for the effects of their actions was outweighed by "the policy of encouraging medical institutions to be open, transparent, and overinclusive" in their notifications. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals initially issued its decision as an unpublished opinion. Upon motion, it published its decision on November 8, 2022.

GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

I. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's longstanding precedent, which allows recovery for emotional distress accompanying a physical injury.

The Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with Washington precedent going back more than a century. This Court has long allowed victims, as a matter of course, to recover for emotional distress that accompanies a physical injury. *See Green v. Floe*, 28 Wn.2d 620, 636, 183 P.2d 771 (1947) (allowing recovery of damages for severe nervous and mental shock, pain, and anguish as a result of physical injuries sustained in car crash); *Redick v. Peterson*, 99 Wash. 368, 370, 169 P. 804 (1918) (allowing

recovery of damages for extreme nervousness as a result of being struck by a car). This is a widely recognized common-law tort principle that Washington has followed for years. *See* 16 David K. DeWolf & Keller W. Allen, *Washington Practice: Tort Law and Practice* §§ 6:7–6:8 (5th ed. 2022); *see also Norfolk & W. Ry. Co. v. Ayers*, 538 U.S. 135, 148–49 (2003) (noting that emotional distress associated with a physical injury is "traditionally compensable"); Dan B. Dobbs et al., *The Law of Torts* § 382 (2d ed. 2022) (similar).

Applying this rule to the Class's claims should have been straightforward. Most Class members sustained a physical injury by undergoing blood testing at Defendant's urging. CP 33–37, 88–89,¹ 298–99. Such blood draws are a physical invasion that cause pain. CP 33–37. This Court has acknowledged this fact, calling blood draws "highly invasive." *State v. Baird*, 187 Wn.2d

-

¹ By November 1, 2018, over 1,800 of the nearly 2,800 patients notified had been tested for Hepatitis C. The total number of patients who have been tested to date remains unknown.

210, 220–21, 386 P.3d 239 (2016); see Russaw v. Martin, 221 Ga. App. 683, 685, 472 S.E.2d 508 (1996) (a needle prick constitutes a physical injury). And as Judge Worswick noted in dissent, blood draws may also cause some individuals "a significant amount of anxiety." Op. at 938 (Worswick, J., dissenting). Accordingly, plaintiffs who have had their blood drawn are entitled as a matter of course to damages for emotional distress. *Id*.

Even the Court of Appeals admitted that the class's "fear of contracting Hepatitis C resulted in both physical damages related to testing . . . and emotional damages." *Id.* at 937 n.8. Yet the court held that these physical injuries were immaterial to whether there was legal causation. The Court of Appeals explained that this holding was "based on the policy considerations regarding [the Defendant's] liability, not the type of damages being claimed." *Id*.

This reasoning conflicts with over 100 years of this Court's case law. Time and time again, this Court has held the

type of damages claimed are fundamental to determining liability. See Bylsma v.Burger King, 176 Wn.2d 555, 560, 293 P.3d 1168 (2013); Berger, 144 Wn.2d at 112–13; Hunsley v. Girard, 87 Wn.2d 424, 436, 553 P.2d 1096 (1976); Redick, 99 Wash. at 370; Corcoran v. Postal Tel.-Cable Co., 80 Wash. 570, 573, 142 P. 29 (1914). In chorus, these cases state that emotional distress damages are allowed as a matter of course when an individual suffers a physical injury. Against this mass of authority, the Court of Appeals failed to identify a single case denying or limiting victims' ability to recover emotional-distress damages that accompany a physical injury. The only case the court cited, Collins v. Juergens Chiropractic, PLLC, 13 Wn. App. 2d 782, 467 P.3d 126 (2020), did not concern emotionaldistress damages at all.

Because the Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with more than a century of this Court's case law, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

II. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Berger v. Sonneland*, which allows emotional distress damages without physical injury or objective symptoms.

For its ruling on legal causation, the Court of Appeals also relied on what it saw as Washington's policy against awarding damages solely for "emotional distress without a corresponding physical harm or objective manifestation." Op. at 937. Even putting aside the erroneous assumption that all class members suffered no physical harm,² the Court of Appeals' analysis conflicts with *Berger*, 144 Wn.2d 91.

In *Berger*, this Court dealt with claims under chapter 7.70 RCW, Washington's medical-malpractice statute. *Berger* held

² As noted earlier, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that many class members *had* suffered physical injury by undergoing blood testing. Op. at 937 n.8. It follows that the court was

referring to a lack of "physical harm or objective manifestation" in some other facet of the case. Evidently, the Court of Appeals meant that class members were not exposed to the Hepatitis C virus, and thus were not "physically harmed" by it, and did not test positive for it, and thus did not "objectively manifest" it. *See id.* at 937 (claiming that "the only reason" class members "believed they were at risk of contracting Hepatitis" was the notification letter).

that a person bringing a claim under chapter 7.70 RCW is not required to show physical harm or objective symptoms to recover emotional distress damages. Berger did not limit its holding to the particular kind of malpractice claim asserted in that case (unauthorized disclosures of confidential patient information). To the contrary, the Court addressed chapter 7.70 RCW as a whole, stating that "the objective symptom requirement is not necessary to prove emotional distress damages under RCW chapter 7.70." Id. at 113. And its analysis focused on what is common to all claims under chapter 7.70 RCW. See id. ("Respondent did not claim negligent infliction of emotional distress. Petitioner cites no authority for his proposition that the requirement [of objective symptoms] should be extended to other causes of action."). Under Berger, no claimant under chapter 7.70 RCW need prove objective symptoms or physical harm.³

⁻

³ *Berger* explicitly addressed only whether objectively verifiable symptoms were required to recover for emotional distress, but its holding necessarily extends to whether physical harm is required. That is because *Berger* dealt with an unauthorized

Because *Berger* encompasses all claims under RCW chapter 7.70, it controls this case. Plaintiffs allege claims under RCW 7.70.030—namely, that Defendant breached its duties of care in its hiring and supervising practices and in its monitoring system for narcotic diversion. CP 45–47.

Despite *Berger*'s clear command, the Court of Appeals held that Plaintiffs cannot show legal causation because they suffered "emotional distress without a corresponding physical harm or objective manifestation." Op. at 937. To support that holding, the Court of Appeals cited *Blysma*, 176 Wn.2d at 560, a product liability case that borrowed its reasoning from case law governing the negligent infliction of emotional distress. *See id.* at 560–61. But because *Blysma* did not mention, much less overrule, *Berger*, it cannot avert the clear conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and this Court's precedent. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

disclosure of confidential medical information—a situation where physical harm was plainly not at issue.

III. Aside from its conflict with this Court's case law, the Court of Appeals' analysis of legal causation is flawed and creates bad policy on an issue of substantial public interest.

Besides conflicting with decisions of this Court, the Court of Appeals' decision fails even on its own terms. In holding that there was no legal causation, the court worried that liability could discourage healthcare providers from providing "full transparent disclosure and notification." Op. at 937.

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