FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/9/2023 10:36 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

### NO. 101537-2

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

M.N., A.B., G.T., and W.N., individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

v.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amanda K. Thorsvig, WSBA #45354 Attorney for Respondent FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 1301 A Street, Suite 900 Tacoma, WA 98402 Ph: 253,328,7800

Email: amanda@favros.com

##

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

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

No RAP 13.4(b) consideration warrants this Court's review. Division II, applying well-established precedent, narrowly decided this appeal on a fact-specific basis, concluding that the Class failed to satisfy legal causation.

Citing RAP 13.4(b)(1) (conflict with decisions of this Court), *Pet. at 13-20*, and RAP 13.4(b)(4) (issue of substantial

public interest), *Pet. at 20-27*, the Class misconstrues Division II's decision in numerous ways: ignoring that it rests on the narrow, purely legal ground of legal causation; contending that some (but not all) Class members sustained a legally cognizable "physical injury" when they did not; arguing that *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91 (2001), permits standalone emotional distress claims absent objective symptomatology when here it does not; and overstating the public's interest in a limited, fact-specific case.

## A. <u>Division II's Decision Does Not Conflict with Any Decision of This Court.</u>

The Class incorrectly argues, *Pet. at 15-20*, that Division II's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions allowing emotional distress damages from physical injuries and *Berger v*. *Sonneland*. Nothing in *Berger* or cases allowing emotional distress damages from physical injuries precludes Division II from concluding that the Class failed to establish legal causation. That is all Division II did here.

Regardless, this Court's decisions allowing emotional

distress damages from physical injuries do not apply because the needle stick is not what caused the Class's claimed emotional distress. And *Berger* held only that the objective symptomatology requirement does not apply when the plaintiff's case falls squarely under chapter 7.70 RCW, which the Class's case does not.

# 1. <u>Division II's legal causation analysis is consistent</u> with this Court's decisions.

The Class has not cited any decisions of this Court that conflict with Division II's legal causation analysis. Division II did not base its holding on physical harm, *Pet. Br. at 13-17*, or objective symptomatology, *Pet Br. at 17-20*. It based its holding instead on the narrow, legal causation prong of proximate cause.

"Proximate cause is defined as a cause 'that in natural and continuous sequence, unbroken by independent cause, produces the injury complained of and without which the ultimate injury would not have occurred." *Collins v. Juergens Chiropractic, PLLC*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 782, 793-94, 467 P.3d 126 (2020) (citation omitted), *rev. denied*, 196 Wn.2d 1027 (2020). It

consists of two prongs: cause in fact and legal causation. *Id.* at 794.

Legal causation encompasses a "'policy determination[] as to how far the consequences of a defendant's acts should extend" and "whether those acts are 'too remote or insubstantial to trigger liability." Id. (quoting N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist., 186 Wn.2d 422, 437, 378 P.3d 162 (2016)). It concerns "whether liability should attach as a matter of law" in any given situation even when other negligence elements may be met. Christen v. Lee, 113 Wn.2d 479, 508, 780 P.2d 1307 (1989) (emphasis original) (citing Baughn v. Honda Motor Co., 107 Wn.2d 127, 146, 727 P.2d 655 (1986); Hartley v. State, 103 Wn.2d 768, 779, 698 P.2d 77 (1985); Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, 134 Wn.2d 468, 479, 951 P.2d 749 (1998). To determine legal causation, courts "evaluate 'mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent." N.L., 186 Wn.2d at 437.

Weighing logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent, Division II concluded that liability should not attach

to the Class's claims against MultiCare. The Class's claims were primarily for emotional distress relating to their purported fear that Weberg may have exposed them to Hepatitis C "because Hepatitis was present in the emergency department when Weberg was working." Slip Op. at 9. As Division II correctly noted, however, the Class "did not receive injections from Weberg, and the only reason the General Treatment Class believed they were at risk of contracting Hepatitis is because MultiCare sent them the notification letter." Id. The Class's basis for liability concerned a nurse who never treated them, did not alter the care they received at MultiCare, and never exposed them to Hepatitis C. What caused their emotional distress was receiving an apologetic notification letter that no one contends MultiCare negligently sent. *Id.* 

Division II not only properly recognized that the Class's damages claims were divorced from any allegedly negligent act, but also correctly appreciated that the Class "is attempting to hold MultiCare responsible not for its negligence but rather for

its attempt to provide notice and an apology," which Washington policy disfavors. Slip Op. at 10. Numerous authorities illustrate this policy. RCW 5.64.010 renders inadmissible offers by a healthcare provider defendant to pay for expenses, statements regarding remedial measures, and statements and gestures of apology, fault, sympathy, commiseration, condolence, or compassion. RCW 5.66.010 prohibits using benevolent gestures expressing sympathy to prove liability. ER 407 prohibits evidence of subsequent remedial measures to prove fault. The policy concern behind these rules is "that the introduction of such evidence may provide a disincentive for people to take safety precautions." Hyjek v. Anthony Indus., 133 Wn.2d 414, 418-19, 944 P.2d 1036 (1997).

Division II thus recognized, *Slip Op. at 10*, that well-settled authorities opposed allowing the Class to use a non-negligent letter that apologized to, sympathized with, and discussed remedial measures for the Class to establish MultiCare's liability. It appropriately concluded that "imposing

Washington policy." *Slip Op. at 10*. MultiCare's remedial actions to prevent harm by laudably casting a wide net to notify thousands and offer complimentary screening should not, as a matter of law, trigger liability. *Slip Op. at 9-10*.

The Class has not cited any proximate cause or legal causation decision of this Court, much less one that conflicts with Division II's decision. Nor can it. Using well-settled legal causation principles and recognized policy considerations consistent with this Court's decisions, Division II correctly concluded that the Class could not establish legal causation.

2. The needle stick is not a "physical injury" that caused emotional distress.

Ignoring that Division II did not decide this appeal on the nature of damages, the Class incorrectly contends, *Pet. at 16*, that Division II disregarded authorities permitting emotional distress damages "as a matter of course" when an individual sustains a physical injury. This argument poses numerous problems.

First, 34% of the Class did not undergo testing and therefore never had the needle stick from a blood draw, making any such "physical injury" claim unavailable across a significant percentage of the Class. CP 349-50, 599-600.

Second, the Class manufactures a conflict with this Court's decisions when there is none. That some Class members may have sustained a "physical injury" in the form of a needle stick did not somehow preclude Division II from deciding that legal causation was lacking. Division II recognized that some Class members had a needle stick, Slip Op. at 9 n.8, Slip Op. at 10, and used this fact to inform its legal causation analysis. Consistent with this Court's "view that a negligent act should have some end to its legal consequences," Division II found a single needle stick that some underwent for a rule-out test insufficient to trigger liability after weighing logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent. Kloepfel v. Bokor, 149 Wn.2d 192, 199, 66 P.3d 630 (2003) (quoting *Hunsley v. Giard*, 87 Wn.2d 424, 435, 553 P.2d 1096 (1976)).

Third, Division II's decision nevertheless followed this Court's decisions on the nature of damages because, contrary to the Class's arguments, their emotional distress is "not a consequence of physical injury:" the needle stick is not what caused their claimed emotional distress. *See Slip Op. at 10.* This Court has long held that "in cases where emotional distress is not a consequence of physical injury ... Washington courts have been cautious about extending a right to recovery." *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 320, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). Division II appropriately exercised such caution here.

The Class's argument, *Pet. at 14, 16*, that those members who underwent testing sustained a physical injury overlooks that their emotional distress is not a consequence of the purported physical injury. The cases the Class cites, including *Green v. Floe*, 28 Wn.2d 620, 636, 183 P.2d 771 (1947), and *Redick v. Peterson*, 99 Wash. 368, 370, 169 P. 804 (1918), highlight this flaw. In those decisions, this Court allowed recovery for

damages from the plaintiffs' mental anguish following physical injuries sustained in car crashes. Both decisions underscore ""[t]he general rule [] that in an action for a physical injury the recoverable damages may include compensation for mental anguish or suffering which results so directly from that injury as to be the natural, legitimate, and proximate consequence thereof." *Green*, 28 Wn.2d at 636 (quoting 15 Am. Jur. 592, § 175) (emphasis added). This is not so with the needle stick.

It was not the needle stick but the notification letter that caused the Class's claimed emotional distress. The complaint emphasizes this, alleging that the Class "suffered serious emotional distress, including but not limited to living with the knowledge that they could have or potential (*sic*) will contract a bloodborne pathogen disease, such as Hepatitis C." CP 43. It was fear in the imagined possibilities that the notification letter, not the needle stick, created. As such, the Class's claimed emotional distress did not "result[] so directly" from the needle stick "as to be the natural, legitimate, and proximate consequence

thereof." *Green*, 28 Wn.2d at 636. Division II's decision does not conflict with the decisions the Class cites. <sup>4</sup>

Given the connection lacking between the needle stick and their claimed emotional distress, the Class appears to argue, *Pet. at 15*, that because this Court in *State v. Baird*, 187 Wn.2d 210, 220, 386 P.3d 239 (2016), called blood draws "highly invasive" in passing, anyone who has had a blood draw is automatically entitled to emotional distress damages. This reaching argument takes half a sentence far out of context. *Baird* establishes no such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In similar cases, courts in other jurisdictions have found that a needle stick could not alone support a claim for damages. *See*, *e.g.*, *Dillard v. Torgerson Props.*, No. 05-2334, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77463, \*13 (D. Minn. Oct. 16, 2006) (affirming summary judgment dismissal in case of accidental needle stick without actual exposure to virus because the plaintiff's "mental distress was not caused by the puncture wounds. Rather, the distress arose from the fear of contracting a communicable disease as a result of needle pricks."); *Exeter Hosp.*, *Inc. v. Kwiatkowski*, No. 14-cv-009-SM, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 150426, \*12-13 (D.N.H. Oct. 31, 2016) ("the needle stick that the negative results claimants may have had to endure as part of the testing process (the only specific physical injury Exeter Hospital identifies) is not a physical manifestation of emotional distress associated with the fear of having potentially contracted Hepatitis C.").

thing. It evaluated whether the State could offer a driver's refusal to submit to an alcohol breath test as evidence of guilt at a criminal trial, and it concluded that, regardless of the invasiveness, *i.e.*, a blood draw versus a breath test, the State was still required to obtain a warrant to avoid an unconstitutional search absent exigency. *Id.* at 219-21. *Baird* is inapplicable and does not support the Class's arguments.

Because the needle stick is not what caused it, the Class's claimed emotional distress is not a consequence of physical injury consistent with those decisions permitting emotional distress damages following a physical injury. Regardless, Division II did not base its determination that the Class failed to establish legal causation on the type of damages being claimed, but on policy considerations regarding MultiCare's liability and how attenuated the Class's claimed damages were from Weberg's conduct. *Slip Op. at 9 and n.8*.

# 3. <u>Division II's decision does not conflict with *Berger y. Sonneland*.</u>

Claiming that Division II incorrectly relied on the Class's failure to prove objective symptomatology, the Class contends, Pet. at 17-20, that Division II's decision conflicts with Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91. They appear to argue that because Division II mentioned "emotional distress without corresponding physical harm or objective manifestation," Slip Op. at 10, it decided these requirements applied to the Class. In so grasping, the Class again invents a nonexistent conflict. Division II did not hold that the Class was required, but failed, to establish objective symptomatology. Division II decided this appeal on an entirely separate, but not inconsistent, ground legal causation—a ground *Berger* does not even address.

Division II considered the fact that the Class's claims largely sounded in emotional distress only insofar as evaluating logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent to conclude that the Class failed to establish legal causation. *Slip Op. at 10*. Division II correctly recognized that "the majority of injuries

are quintessentially emotional distress damages." *Slip Op. at 7, n.7.* Its decision reflects this Court's longstanding caution regarding claims resting on subjective emotional distress due to "concerns that feigned claims of emotional distress would lead to intolerable and interminable litigation." *Bylsma v. Burger King Corp.,* 176 Wn.2d 555, 560, 293 P.3d 1168 (2013).

Further, even if Division II had decided this appeal based on objective symptomatology—which it did not—*Berger* does not dictate that the Class here would be excused from proving objective symptomatology. *Berger* is unlike this case in significant ways.

In *Berger*, the plaintiff sued her physician, claiming he had improperly disclosed her confidential information. 144 Wn.2d at 94-95. This Court concluded that the plaintiff's claims came within chapter 7.70 RCW because the physician disclosed the confidential information to obtain more facts to treat the patient, making the conduct "health care." *Id.* at 110. It distinguished

Estate of Sly v. Linville, 75 Wn. App. 431, 878 P.2d 1241 (1994), in which a physician made misrepresentations that did not constitute "health care" because they did not "occur while the physician was 'utilizing the skills which he had been taught in examining, diagnosing, treating or caring for' the patient." Berger, 144 Wn.2d at 108-09 (citation omitted).

Because the plaintiff's claims in *Berger* were statutory chapter 7.70 RCW claims, they correspondingly were not common law negligent infliction of emotional distress claims. *See id.* at 112-13. This Court found insufficient support to extend the objective symptomatology requirement beyond common law negligent infliction of emotional distress and appreciated that the plaintiff's chapter 7.70 RCW action already required, as guardrails, expert testimony to prove standard of care and causation. *Id.* at 110-13.

*Berger* thus allows courts to relax the objective symptomatology requirement only if plaintiffs' claims fall squarely within chapter 7.70 RCW. The Class's claims do not.

Chapter 7.70 RCW governs only "damages for injury occurring as the result of health care." RCW 7.70.030. Berger defines "heath care" under chapter 7.70 RCW as "the process in which a physician is utilizing the skills which the physician had been taught in examining, diagnosing, treating or caring for the plaintiff as the physician's patient." 144 Wn.2d at 109 (brackets, internal quotations, and citation omitted). That the Class sued MultiCare, a health care provider, and were at some point MultiCare's patients is not enough to bring their claims within chapter 7.70 RCW's reach under Berger. See Berger, 144 Wn.2d at 108-09 (discussing and contrasting Estate of Sly); Beggs v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 171 Wn.2d 69, 79, 247 P.3d 421 (2011) ("everything within a doctor-patient relationship is not necessarily health care"). Rather, the Class must articulate an injury occurring from the "health care" they received at MultiCare, i.e., from a health care provider's examination, diagnosis, and treatment of them as patients. Berger, 144 Wn.2d at 109. The Class cannot do so.

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